Local History Notes FONDON BOROUGH OF
RICHMONIY UPON THAMES

The View from Richmond Hill

The celebrated view of the vale of the Thames from the summit of Richmond Hill has long
been the inspiration of writers and artists, both native and foreign.

James Thomson, the Scottish poet who lived in Kew Foot Lane, Richmond from 1736 until
his death in 1748, refers to the view in Summer (1727) - one of the poems from the cycle
called The Seasons - giving the reader an indication of its extent:-

"Here let us sweep

The boundless landscape; not the raptur'd eye,
Exulting swift, to huge Augusta send,

Now to the sister-hills that skirt her plain

To lofty Harrow now, and then to where
Majestic Windsor lifts his princely brow.

In lovely contrast to this glorious view,

Calmly magnificent."”

William Wordsworth, in his sonnet June 1820 (1820), refers both to the nightingales for
which Richmond Hill was once famous and are commemorated in the name ‘Nightingale
Lane’ and to James Thomson:-

Fame tells of groves — from England far away —
Groves that inspire the Nightingale to trill

And modulate, with subtle reach of skill
Elsewhere unmatched, her ever-varying lay;
Such bold report | venture to gainsay:

For | have heard the quire of Richmond hill
Chanting, with indefatigable bill,

Strains that recalled to mind a distant day;
When, haply under shade of that same wood,
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And scarcely conscious of the dashing oars
Plied steadily between those willowly shores,
The sweet-souled Poet of the Seasons stood —
Listening, and listening long, in rapturous mood,
Ye heavenly Birds! To your Progenitors.

Visitors from overseas have been equally enraptured. One of these was Charles P. Moritz,
whose impressions are recorded in his Travels in England in 1782:-

"The terrace at Richmond does assuredly afford one of the finest prospects in the world.
Whatever is charming in nature or pleasing in art, is to be seen here: nothing | had ever
seen or ever can see elsewhere, is to be compared to it."

Probably the best description in a work of fiction appears in Sir Walter Scott’'s Heart of
Midlothian (1818), in which the Duke of Argyle and Jeanie Deans stand on the
"commanding eminence" and behold —

"A huge sea of verdure with crossing and interesting promonteries of massive and tufted
groves,... tenanted by numberless flocks and herds, which seem to wander unrestrained,
and unbounded, through rich pastures. The Thames, here turretted with villas and there
garlanded with forests, moved on slowly and placidly, like the mighty monarch of the scene,
to whom all its other beauties were accessories, and bore on his bosom a hundred barks
and skiffs, whose white sails and gaily fluttering pennons gave life to the whole."

Practitioners in the field of the visual arts were never slow to make use of the view in their
work. Some of these artists were, in fact, resident locally in Richmond and its vicinity.

Such a man was Augustine Heckel (1690-177), a German-born artist resident in Richmond
from 1746 until his death. His View from Richmond Hill up the river became widely
known after being engraved by Grignion.

The same view was also painted by Joseph Farington (1747-1821) and engraved by J.C.
Stadler.

Sir Joshua Reynolds (1732-1792) — a painter not principally known for his landscapes —
had an excellent view of the vale from the rear of his house, Wick House, on Richmond Hill.
He painted the scene in about 1780.

The American landscape artist Jasper Francis Cropsey (1823-1900) lived for some time in
England. His realisation of the famous vista was described in the Art Journal as:-

" a large and important work...in which that favourite national scene of ours is treated with a
most circumstantial fidelity and completeness of detail and, at the same time, with refined
poetical feeling and brilliancy of effect which we have so often admired in the much varied
productions of that artist.”
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One of the greatest of all English landscape painters, J.M.W. Turner (1775-1851) — who, for
a time, had a country residence in Twickenham — exhibited his England: Richmond Hill
on the Prince Regent’s Birthday at the Royal Academy in 1819. This painting now hangs
in the Tate Gallery, London.

Another artist who lived in the area and who did many paintings of the locality, including the
Richmond Hill view, was Thomas Christopher Hofland (1777-1843), husband of the writer
Barbara Hofland.

The attraction to artists of the view from the Hill has not diminished in recent times. In 1926,
whilst he was staying in England, the Austrian-born artist, Oskar Kokoschka (1886-1980)
painted Richmond Terrace, perhaps the most notable evocation of the scene by a
contemporary painter.

= RS L

Preservation of the View

One of the most well-known inhabitants of Richmond in the 18" century was Miss Susanna
Houblon. When she died in 1765, she left her house and property on Richmond Hill —
Ellerker House, now the Old Vicarage School — to her great-nephew with several conditions
attached to the inheritance. Firstly, that her niece, Esther Mytton, should be allowed to live
there undisturbed for as long as she chose to do so and, secondly, that no buildings should
be erected or alterations made which might interfere with the "prospect from her windows."

By the middle of the 18" century, therefore, the view from Richmond Hill had come to be
regarded as something of a personal asset by those fortunate enough to live there. In the
years which followed, however, Richmond residents began to realise that — thanks partly to
the efforts of writers and artists such as those mentioned above — the famous prospect had
become not only a personal and local asset but a national asset as well, and, as such
needed to be carefully safeguarded. With this object in mind, the local authorities over the
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past two hundred years, have bought various properties and have taken over covenants
whenever they have considered it necessary.

The slopes which lead down to the river from the Terrace now contain the Terrace
Gardens, one of the borough'’s finest parks. The present Terrace Gardens originated from
three large private estates — those of Buccleuch House, Lansdowne House and Cardigan
House. Lansdowne House was demolished in about 1869 and its grounds were purchased
by the 5™ Duke of Buccleuch, who already owned a large villa on the riverside (Buccleuch
House) with associated gardens on the Terrace. In 1886 the Richmond Vestry acquired the
combines Lansdowne/Buccleuch estate and the Terrace Gardens were formally opened in
May 1887 by the Duchess of Teck. Buccleuch House and its riverside gardens were in turn
sold to Sir J. Whittaker Ellis (later to become Charter Mayor of Richmond). In 1936 the
riverside area was purchased by Richmond Borough Council. Buccleuch House was
demolished in 1938 and a promenade on the site was opened in the same year. The
Cardigan House estate had been bought in 1925 by the British Legion and part of the
grounds were acquired by Richmond Council in the following year. This area was not fully
developed for many years, but in the late 1950’s work began on the creation of the
woodland garden which was completed in 1962.

In 1896 the Trustees of the Earl of Dysart leased Petersham Meadows to the Corporation
with the object of preserving the view from the Terrace. Subsequently, under the
Richmond, Petersham and Ham Open Spaces Act 1902, which preserved the view,
Petersham Meadows and Common were vested in the Corporation as public recreation
grounds and open spaces.

Glover’s Island, an island in the Thames opposite the Terrace Gardens previously known
as Petersham Ait, was owned by Joseph Glover who was a Richmond waterman. He put
the island up for sale in 1895. Sir J. Whittaker Ellis declined to buy it for £5,000 and
suggested that the Richmond Corporation should be approached. The Amenities
Committee considered the proposal on 2™ April 1895 and decided —

"That while the Committee think it desirable that the Island should be acquired for the
Corporation if it could be obtained at a reasonable price, they are of the opinion that in view
of the sum now named, it would be useless to enter into any negotiation for its purchase."

In August 1898, Glover decided to auction the island and again, with the threat of a sale to
a large advertising firm who would probably use the site as an advertising station, offered it
to the Corporation for £4,000. Although the Corporation wanted to buy it, it felt that there
was no justification in spending such a large sum of money out of its funds.

There then followed a lengthy debate and correspondence in the local press about
preserving the view from Richmond Hill and suggestions were made that the purchase
should be funded jointly by public subscription and the corporation.

By September, only £50 had been given to the public fund and the disclosure that Glover
had purchased the island in 1872 for £70 did not helped the collection.

The auction took place on 21° September when the highest bid was £200. It was noted that
an unnamed resident had offered Glover £1,000 for the island which he then intended to
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present to the Corporation, but Glover refused to sell and also withdrew the island from
sale.

In 1900 Max Waechter, who lived in Terrace House, Richmond Hill, bought Glover’s Island
and gave it to the Council — the sale price was never disclosed — and the island reverted to
its original name of Petersham Ait. In 1902, Waechter also gave the freehold of Petersham
Lodge and grounds as free gifts to the council for further preservation of the view.

Sir J. Whittaker Ellis wrote to several national newspapers about the possible loss of
several large houses and their grounds. He appealed to the Government, London County
Council and municipal authorities to stop the destruction. Again there followed a long and
heated debate in the newspapers.

In June 1901, the view again was under threat, especially on the Middlesex side. Marble
Hill House, a Palladian villa built between 1723-29, and its park was in danger of being
bought by developers. The estate was purchased by funds provided by various local
authorities and private sources and, in 1903, was opened as a public park under the control
of the London County Council — this became the Greater London Authority in 1965 and the
house and park are now administered by English Heritage.

In 1927 Mrs Nellie lonides purchased Orleans House, the adjacent property to Marble Hill,
to preserve it from industrial use. A Deed of Covenant was entered into by Richmond
Borough Council, Twickenham Borough Council and Surrey, Middlesex and London County
Councils in 1930. The terms of the deed were designed as far as possible to preserve the
view from Richmond Hill by restricting the future development of the land to certain limited
areas only. Compensation was paid to the then owners of the land for granting the right to
enforce these restrictions.

A speculative building firm (St. Alban’s Investments Ltd.) put forward, in 1958, a plan to
build a series of lock-up garages in the Haversham Grange grounds in Cambridge Park,
East Twickenham and applied for the modification of the restrictive covenants to enable
them to carry out this work. The application was opposed by both the Richmond and
Twickenham Borough Councils, together with other local authorities and private individuals.
The case went before the Lands Tribunal who decided not to revoke the covenants and the
firm was ordered to pay the agreed costs of each objector who was legally represented.

Another dispute of recent years occurred in 1964 when a certain building concern applied
for planning permission to erect a hotel of ‘skyscraper’ proportions on the site of the
existing Star and Garter Hotel (below Richmond Terrace). The Richmond Society — a
voluntary, but influential local amenity organisation — presented a petition to the Minister of
Housing and Local Government objecting to the application and the project was
subsequently dropped.

More information on the view from Richmond Hill and other famous places in the London
Borough of Richmond upon Thames is available from the Local Studies Collection.
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